
From: Bartos, Ramona <Ramona.Bartos@dncr.nc.gov>  
Sent: Wednesday, October 29, 2025 12:54 PM 
To: Crystal Cavalier-Keck <crystal@7directionsofservice.com> 
Cc: DNCR - Environmental_Review <Environmental.Review@dncr.nc.gov>; Gledhill-earley, 
Renee <renee.gledhill-earley@dncr.nc.gov>; Jason Sullivan 
<jason.sullivan@chathamcountync.gov> 
Subject: Re: [External] Re: Request to withdraw and correct SHPO’s “no historic resources 
affected” finding; Riverbend Estates at Laurel Ridge / Haw River Basin, Chatham County — 
Section 106 consultation and identification of Traditional Cultural Properties, in... 

 

WARNING: This message originated from outside the Chatham County email system. 
Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the 
content is safe.  

Dear Ms. Keck:  

 

Thank you very much for your message.  

We have checked in with the US Army Corps of Engineers regarding the status of their 
jurisdictional determination for this project.  We understand from them that that 
assessment process has not yet been completed.  As a result, a Section 106 consultation 
is not yet underway.   The jurisdictional assessment will determine whether or not the 
Corps requires a permit for this project.  A permit application is what triggers a Section 106 
consultation.   

As with all constituents, we will continue to advocate for and support both tribal 
consultation and the inclusion of all potential consulting parties in fulfillment of the 
Section 106 process.  

We encourage you to remain in contact with Ms. Capito with the Corps.   

I hope this information was helpful.   

All the best with thanks, Ramona Bartos 

 

  

mailto:Ramona.Bartos@dncr.nc.gov
mailto:crystal@7directionsofservice.com
mailto:Environmental.Review@dncr.nc.gov
mailto:renee.gledhill-earley@dncr.nc.gov
mailto:jason.sullivan@chathamcountync.gov


Ramona M. Bartos, MHP, JD 

Administrator, State Historic Preservation Office 

Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer 

Division Director, Division of Historical Resources 

Office of Archives and History 

North Carolina Department of Natural and Cultural Resources 

                                      919-814-6583  (please kindly consider an email message for most 
direct contact) 

         ramona.bartos@dncr.nc.gov 

  

109 E. Jones Street  |  MSC 4617  |  Raleigh, NC 27699-4617 (MSC zip code) 

  

Email correspondence to and from this address is subject to the 

North Carolina Public Records Law and may be disclosed to third parties. 

_____________________________________________________________ 

           

Facebook  Twitter  Instagram  YouTube 

  

 

From: Crystal Cavalier-Keck <crystal@7directionsofservice.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, October 21, 2025 10:20 PM 
To: Bartos, Ramona <Ramona.Bartos@dncr.nc.gov> 
Cc: DNCR - Environmental_Review <Environmental.Review@dncr.nc.gov>; Gledhill-earley, 
Renee <renee.gledhill-earley@dncr.nc.gov>; jason.sullivan@chathamcountync.gov 
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

  

CAUTION: External email. Do not click links or open attachments unless verified. Report 
suspicious emails with the Report Message button located on your Outlook menu bar on 
the Home tab. 

 

Dear Ms. Bartos, 

Thank you for your response and for clarifying the State Historic Preservation Office’s 
(SHPO) position regarding Section 106 applicability for the Riverbend Estates at Laurel 
Ridge project in Chatham County, NC. 

I want to provide an important update: 
On September 19, 2024, Garret Nelson received confirmation from Natalie Lester, 
Regulatory Program Technician with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) – 
Wilmington District, that a Jurisdictional Determination (JD) request was received on 
September 17, 2024, and the project has been formally assigned USACE Project 
Number SAW-2024-01803. The project manager is Rachel Capito 
(rachel.a.capito@usace.army.mil). 

Because the Corps has accepted jurisdictional review under Section 404 of the Clean 
Water Act, this constitutes a federal undertaking as defined by 36 CFR 800.16(y) and 
therefore triggers both Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act and NC GS 
121-12(a). 

Given the proximity of this development to the Mitchum Site—a documented 
Sissipahaw/Occaneechi village and cultural landscape along the Haw River—and the 
fact that only approximately 10 percent of the site has been archaeologically surveyed, I 
respectfully request that the SHPO reopen its review and initiate coordination with the 
USACE to ensure that archaeological, cultural, and burial resources are adequately 
identified and protected. 

For reference: 

• Project: Riverbend Estates at Laurel Ridge, Swain Group, LLC 

 
You don't often get email from crystal@7directionsofservice.com. Learn why this is 
important   
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• Location: Off Rock Rest Rd and Old Graham Rd, Chatham County, NC 

• Parcels: 10927, 10919, 10922, 79194, 10925, 10923, 10924, 10926, 66355, 85139, 
10970 

• USACE Project No.: SAW-2024-01803 

Please add 7 Directions of Service as an interested consulting party for any subsequent 
Section 106 correspondence or coordination related to this project. 

Thank you for your time and for your commitment to protecting North Carolina’s cultural 
heritage. I appreciate your continued attention to this matter and look forward to SHPO’s 
acknowledgment that a federal undertaking is now present. 

With respect and appreciation, 
Dr. Crystal A. Cavalier-Keck 

 

On Tue, Oct 21, 2025 at 1:06 PM Bartos, Ramona <Ramona.Bartos@dncr.nc.gov> wrote: 

Dear Ms. Cavalier-Keck:  

Thank you very much for your message.   

It is our understanding that at present there is no federal or state undertaking (that is, a 
federal or state permit, approval, or funding) relevant to this tract that would trigger a 
Section 106 review under the National Historic Preservation Act or NC GS 121-12(a).  

We would encourage you to contact the US Army Corps of Engineers to determine if that 
status has changed. 

With kindest regards,  

Ramona Bartos 

 

  

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
Sent: Sunday, October 19, 2025 8:20 PM 
To: DNCR - Environmental_Review <Environmental.Review@dncr.nc.gov>; renee.gledhill-
earley@dncr.nc <renee.gledhill-earley@dncr.nc>; Bartos, Ramona 
<Ramona.Bartos@dncr.nc.gov> 
Cc: jason.sullivan@chathamcountync.gov <jason.sullivan@chathamcountync.gov> 
Subject: [External] Re: Request to withdraw and correct SHPO’s “no historic resources 
affected” finding; Riverbend Estates at Laurel Ridge / Haw River Basin, Chatham County — 
Section 106 consultation and identification of Traditional Cultural Properties, includ...  
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CAUTION: External email. Do not click links or open attachments unless verified. Report 
suspicious emails with the Report Message button located on your Outlook menu bar on 
the Home tab. 

 

Date: Sunday, October 19, 2025 

Dear Deputy SHPO Bartos, Ms. Gledhill-Earley, and colleagues, 

I write on behalf of citizens and descendants, and in my capacity as an enrolled citizen of 
the Occaneechi Band of the Saponi Nation, whose ancestral territory includes the Haw 
River watershed and the area proposed for the Riverbend Estates at Laurel Ridge 
subdivision. We respectfully request that your office withdraw and correct its September 
26, 2024, determination that it is “aware of no historic resources which would be affected 
by the project” (ER 24-2028).  

That conclusion is factually and procedurally deficient because it overlooks at least two 
historic properties—and potentially more—within the project area of potential effects 
(APE): 

• The Mitchum Site (31CH63), one of the most consequential Indigenous 
archaeological sites in the North Carolina Piedmont, and 

• Adjacent/associated Indigenous sites and use areas (including burial, village, and 
ceremonial locales) form a broader cultural landscape tied to the Haw River. 

Whether or not a property is presently listed in the National Register of Historic Places is 
not dispositive under Section 106; agencies must identify and consider properties that 
are listed in or eligible for the National Register (36 C.F.R. § 800.4, § 800.5). A site with 
10,000+ years of occupation and continuing cultural significance readily meets one or 
more National Register Criteria A–D (association with events and lifeways; information 
potential; cultural landscape integrity), and it is precisely the sort of Traditional Cultural 
Property (TCP) and archaeological district that requires early, meaningful, government-
to-government consultation with affected tribal nations. 

Beyond federal process, North Carolina law independently protects these values. The 
Unmarked Human Burial and Human Skeletal Remains Protection Act (N.C. Gen. Stat. 
§§ 70-29 to 70-33) imposes clear duties once burials are known or suspected; willful or 

 
You don't often get email from crystal@7directionsofservice.com. Learn why this is 
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negligent disturbance in the course of development is not an option. Proceeding without 
proper identification and avoidance measures risks irreparable harm and legal exposure 
for the applicant and permitting authorities. 

Requested corrective actions 

Accordingly, we request that the SHPO: 

1. Withdraw the 9/26/24 “no historic resources affected” comment for ER 24-2028 
and issue a corrected determination acknowledging the presence and high 
likelihood of eligible historic properties within the APE (including 31CH63 and 
associated sites). 

2. Direct the applicant to complete a comprehensive, intensive Phase I 
archaeological survey (100% systematic surface/subsurface, with geomorphology) 
of the entire project footprint and all off-site improvements, designed in 
consultation with the Occaneechi Band of the Saponi Nation, and reviewed by 
SHPO before ground disturbance. 

3. Commit to government-to-government consultation early and throughout, 
including tribal monitors and access for ceremony and visitation as appropriate. 

4. Require protective conditions as part of any local approvals: recorded 
conservation/avoidance easements, stop-work and discovery protocols, and a 
treatment plan (avoidance as the preferred mitigation; data recovery only as a last 
resort). 

5. Transmit a corrected letter to the RiverBend/Laurel Ridge development team and 
Chatham County clarifying that historic/archaeological resources are present or 
likely present. That identification, consultation, and avoidance/mitigation steps 
are mandatory before any approvals or ground disturbance. 

Why this matters 

The Haw River cultural landscape is not an abstraction—it is a living place of ceremony, 
subsistence, burial, and kinship that continues to hold meaning for our people. In 
practice, corn stores, river crossings, and sacred grounds were (and remain) the political 
and ecological infrastructure of Occoneechi-Saponi governance. Reducing this landscape 
to “no historic resources” erases that reality and compounds generations of dispossession. 

We have attached (and previously submitted) a memorandum and public comment letter 
that detail the historical, cultural, and legal bases for eligibility, the likely APE, and feasible 



avoidance measures. We are ready to meet right away to coordinate survey design, 
monitoring, and consultation logistics for you. 

Please let me know when SHPO will issue the withdrawal and corrected comment for ER 
24-2028 and notify the County and applicant accordingly. 

With respect and resolve, 

Dr. Crystal Cavalier 

Graduate Student in the Master of Legal Studies  
Indigenous Peoples Law Program  
University of Oklahoma 
Mobile: 336.639-2454   

 

 
Email correspondence to and from this address may be subject to the North Carolina 
Public Records Law and may be disclosed to third parties by an authorized state official. 

Dr. Crystal A Cavalier, Ed.D, MPA 
Graduate Student in the Master of Legal Studies  
Indigenous Peoples Law Program  
University of Oklahoma 
Mobile: 336.639-2454   
www.7directionsofservice.com 
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